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Evaluation of Community Choice Energy (CCE) 

DATE: March 6, 2015 

TO: Los Altos City Council     

FROM: Los Altos Environmental Commission 

SUBJECT: Evaluation of Community Choice Energy (CCE) 

 
RECOMMENDATION:   

Authorize Immediate Study of CCE Options  
 
BACKGROUND 

On December 10, 2013, Council adopted the City of Los Altos Climate Action Plan (CAP). The 
CAP sets a greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction goal for Los Altos of 17% by the year 2020, from the 
2005 baseline. This would reduce emissions to 152,000 metric tons of CO2 equivalent.  

The Business as Usual Case estimates emissions growing to 199,070 metric tons in 2020. Govern-
ment mandates, such as Federal CAFE standards for improving fuel efficiency in automobiles, Cali-
fornia’s Renewable Portfolio Standards and existing local measures will help to reach the reduction 
goal. Nevertheless, additional Los Altos measures will be needed to address a gap of 15,640 metric 
tons if the City is to reach its goal. 

The CAP identifies over 40 measures and estimates the potential GHG reduction impact and cost of 
each. The top three areas are improvements to non-motorized transportation, increased energy effi-
ciency, and increased use of renewable energy. If all measures are implemented the gap will be 
filled, but the requirements in staff time and capital cost will be substantial (several millions of dol-
lars). 

The CAP does not currently include a Community Choice Energy (CCE) initiative.  A CCE provides 
residential and commercial electricity customers new options for buying power from renewable, car-
bon-free sources. Emissions from the production of electricity represent 18% of 2005 baseline emis-
sions (36,400 metric tons); therefore the potential for GHG reduction is large.  If Los Altos achieves 
results similar to Marin Clean Energy (MCE), a reduction of 7,815 metric tons is possible. Further, if 
via CCE, Los Altos were able to establish an energy mix that was 100% renewable, the reduction of 
36,400 metric tons would be more than twice the impact of all current CAP measures combined.  

At the time the CAP was developed, only one CCE was in place in California (MCE) and it required 
several years and significant effort to achieve. This was not considered a viable option for Los Altos. 
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Recent Developments 

Over the past few years, utility-scale energy from renewable sources has become less expensive and 
more widely available. Major local businesses such as Apple, Google and Kaiser Permanente have 
made significant investments in renewable energy projects to provide power for their business opera-
tions. 

Furthermore, Community Choice Aggregation (CCA), a common mechanism for deploying CCE, is 
gaining popularity.  Marin Clean Energy (MCE), beginning service in 2010, was followed by Sono-
ma Clean Power in 2014. The City of Lancaster in Southern California will begin Choice Energy 
this year. Alameda County, San Mateo County, and the City of San Francisco have each funded 
CCA feasibility studies. The City of Sunnyvale, joined by Mountain View, Cupertino, and the Coun-
ty of Santa Clara is preparing a May report on a pre-feasibility study for a South Bay CCA. 

CCA rates are competitive with PG&E. MCE offers a ‘light green’ option (50% renewable) at slight-
ly lower cost, and ‘dark green’ (100% renewable) at slightly higher cost. For comparison, the CO2 
emissions per Megawatt-Hour are 445 pounds for PG&E, 380 pounds for MCE Light Green, and 0 
pounds for MCE Dark Green (2012 numbers). 

New options for the formation of CCAs are emerging that may be relevant to smaller jurisdictions 
such as Los Altos.  A third-party ‘CCA provider’ can aid cities in forming, financing and operating a 
CCA.  

Additionally a new ‘Green Option’ program being implemented by PG&E allows customers to vol-
untarily purchase power from 100% renewable sources. 

Of concern, the City of Mountain View announced in February that they are not meeting their GHG 
target and that emissions from 2005 to 2012 are trending up, not down. 

Zach Dahl, Senior Planner, announced March 9 that the City of Los Altos……. 

CCE Options for Los Altos 

Current options for consideration and Council direction:  

1. ‘Do it Yourself’ CCA 

Los Altos forms its own entity to buy renewably sourced power. This is impractical for a 
City such as Los Altos with 30,000 residents and a small commercial electricity load. It’s 
generally recommended that an entity be on the order of 200,000 residents to justify the time 
and cost required. 
 

2. Public Partner CCA, ASAP 

Los Altos teams with a larger partner, e.g. Sunnyvale/South Bay CCA, as soon as possible. 
This requires Los Altos to move forward aggressively, and take steps to analyze its current 
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electric load and provide timely input to the Sunnyvale feasibility study. This would enable 
Los Altos and the South Bay CCA to determine and plan the ‘fit’ (e.g. Los Altos require-
ments, cost/GHG mix expectations) and if a fit looks reasonable, bring Los Altos into the 
South Bay CCA, either at formation or as soon as possible thereafter. This would not require 
or guarantee a long-term commitment by either party to the CCA, but could potentially save 
Los Altos thousands of dollars.  Sunnyvale and current partners Cupertino, Mountain View, 
and the County of Santa Clara, anticipate working over the next few months to establish their 
approach for partnering with other interested jurisdictions. 

 
3. Public Partner CCA, Later 

Los Altos teams with a larger public partner later, once the entity is well established. This is 
a passive ‘wait and see’ approach and assumes South Bay CCA, for example, would have an 
interest in expanding to other local Cities – as happened with MCE. This could be a relative-
ly low cost option, but with much delayed GHG reduction benefits. 

4. Commercial Partner CCA 

Los Altos teams with a private company to provide CCA services, including formation, fi-
nancing, and operation.  This approach offers the promise of high GHG reduction potential, 
rapid implementation, good cost performance, risk management, and a high degree of control 
by the City. At this time there is a plentiful supply of low-cost renewable energy offering a 
good opportunity to lock in favorable rates. Furthermore, there is considerable interest form-
ing around this new model for CCAs, and there may be advantages for early adopters in de-
veloping and negotiating agreement terms and ensuring access to currently available low cost 
green power. Nevertheless, this is a new and emerging type of offer, and any vendors offer-
ing these services would need to be thoroughly vetted and contracts carefully written. 

5. Green Option 

Los Altos promotes the purchase of green power directly from PG&E.  This involves the City 
promoting the new PG&E ‘Green Option. ‘  The Green Option tariff is expected to require 
that customers ‘opt-in’ and pay a small premium (probably 1-2 cents/kWh), and is scheduled 
to become available in late 2015. Uptake is likely to be modest, with voluntary ‘green ener-
gy’ programs around the country typically seeing a 5-20% customer subscription rate. En-
couraging such a program locally could be a good near-term measure, especially if formation 
or participation in a CCA is not a high priority. 

Each option has unique attributes.  The table below provides our qualitative, high level comparison 
of the options versus a number of key evaluation criteria.  Options 2 and 4 appear to offer the most 
potential for Los Altos, in terms of GHG reduction impact, speed, and cost of implementation.  
These options are both time-sensitive, as the South Bay CCA is now in the process of being scoped, 
and the commercial market for clean energy is currently favorable.   
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RECOMMENDATION 

That a study be immediately authorized to evaluate CCE initiative options, and to establish City di-
rection on a CCE initiative; this would include a data request to PG&E for detailed customer load 
data, with strong provisions for privacy protection in place, to allow an evaluation of the prospective 
options, costs and benefits associated with CCE. 
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